

Timbercorp Securities Limited

In Liquidation ACN 092 311 469

Report by Liquidators

26 September 2014

Pursuant to Section 508 of the Corporations Act



Contents

1	Conduct of Liquidation	1
	1.1 Purpose of this report	1
	1.2 Background	1
2	Update on legal issues	1
	2.1 Timbercorp Class Action	1
	2.2 Other outstanding legal issues	2
3	Update on Forestry Managed Investment Schemes	2
	3.1 Forestry schemes asset sale distributions	2
	3.2 Harvest proceeds distribution	3
	3.3 Outstanding matters	3
4	Update on Horticultural Managed Investment Schemes	3
	4.1 Kangara Citrus and Bella Vista Table Grape compromises	3
	4.2 Earlier horticulture compromises	4
	4.3 Almond Schemes	4
	4.4 Olive Schemes	5
	4.5 Citrus Schemes	5
5	Update on Wider Timbercorp Group Entity Liquidations	5
	5.1 Deregistration of Timbercorp Group Entities	5
	5.2 External Unsecured Creditors	5
	5.3 Statutory obligations	6
	5.4 Creditor claims and dividends	6
6	Receipts and payments	6
7	Further information	7
Арр	endix 1 Timbercorp Managed Investment Schemes	8



1 Conduct of Liquidation

1.1 Purpose of this report

Leanne Chesser and I, Mark Korda were appointed Voluntary Administrators of Timbercorp Securities Limited (In Liquidation) ('the Company') on 23 April 2009 and subsequently appointed as Liquidators of the Company on 29 June 2009. This report, prepared in accordance with the provisions of Section 508(3) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) ('the Act'), details the Liquidators' account of acts and dealings in the winding up of the Company during the period 29 June 2013 to 28 June 2014.

1.2 Background

The Timbercorp Group now consists of Timbercorp Limited (In Liquidation) ('TIM') and 26 subsidiaries including the Company ('the Timbercorp Group').

The Company issued 33 Managed Investment Schemes ('MIS') and three private offer schemes as detailed in the schedules at Appendix 1 (referred to collectively as 'the Schemes' or individually as 'Scheme'). The MIS included forestry and horticulture assets, included approximately 100 million blue gum trees, nearly 3 million almond trees and over 2 million olive trees.

Following a review of the Schemes, the Liquidators conducted sales and marketing campaigns for all major forestry and horticulture assets. Forestry, almond and olive assets achieved sale prices of \$345 million, \$128 million and \$60 million respectively and proceeds from these sales have been distributed to relevant stakeholders. Proceeds from the remaining scheme related asset realisations were distributed to relevant stakeholders after compromises were reached between Grower Investors and secured creditors.

For further details on the background of the Timbercorp Group please refer to the previous Reports by Liquidators lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ('ASIC') on 28 September 2010, 28 September 2011, 28 September 2012 and 26 September 2013.

2 Update on legal issues

2.1 Timbercorp Class Action

As previously reported, the Supreme Court of Victoria published a judgement on 1 September 2011 which dismissed claims that the Company, Timbercorp Finance Pty Ltd (In Liquidation) ('TFL') and three of their directors:

- Failed to disclose various matters that affected, or were likely to materially affect, investments made in the Timbercorp Managed Investment Schemes ('MIS').
- Made false, misleading or deceptive representations in relation to the Timbercorp MIS.

A subsequent appeal and an application seeking special leave to appeal to the High Court were both dismissed. Leave to appeal to the High Court was heard on 11 April 2014 and refused with costs. A copy of the judgement can be downloaded at:

 $\underline{\text{http://www.austlii.edu.au/cgibin/sinodisp/au/cases/cth/HCATrans/2014/85.html?stem=0\&synonyms=0\&query=timbercorp\%20finance}$



2.2 Other outstanding legal issues

Following the dismissal of the application for special leave to appeal to the High Court, the Liquidators are now in a position to pursue outstanding debts owed to the Company.

Whilst the proceeding was on foot, the Company determined that it would not be appropriate to pursue payment from Grower Investors of outstanding fees including rent, insurance, licence and management fees, and operating and maintenance costs ('Grower Fees'). This is because, if the proceeding had been successful, the Company may not have been entitled to payment of the Grower Fees.

3 Update on Forestry Managed Investment Schemes

3.1 Forestry schemes asset sale distributions

The Company was the Responsible Entity ('RE') of 11 Forestry MIS and one MIS that was not required to be registered (referred to collectively as 'Forestry Schemes' or individually as a 'Forestry Scheme'). Following an international sale campaign, a sale and purchase deed was signed with Australian Bluegum Plantations Pty Ltd ('ABP') on 30 September 2009.

The per lot returns for each of the Forestry Schemes were calculated with reference to the ABP bid allocation and on 17 December 2009, the Supreme Court of Victoria gave orders approving the Liquidators' method of apportioning the gross sale proceeds and costs between each of the Forestry Schemes.

Four distributions of sale proceeds have been processed as at 28 June 2014. The first, totalling \$117.3 million, commenced on 18 December 2009, the second, totalling \$15.8 million, commenced on 30 March 2010, and the third, totalling \$29.0 million, commenced on 25 July 2013. The fourth distribution is detailed below. Two additional distributions of Goods and Services Tax ('GST') to registered Forestry Grower Investors were made on 28 June 2010 and totalled \$5.3 million. A further GST distribution was made on 18 September 2014 and is detailed in Section 3.3.2.

At 28 June 2014, \$154.1 million had been paid to Forestry Grower Investors with \$13.3 million on hold where Forestry Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Forestry Grower Investors. Forestry Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a Direction to Pay ('DTP') to facilitate the distribution of any proceeds from the sale of Forestry Scheme assets to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
One	18/12/2009	\$117,277,877.72	\$107,662,171.65	\$9,615,706.07
Two	30/03/2010	\$15,815,660.78	\$14,907,049.88	\$908,610.90
Three	25/07/2013	\$29,024,614.68	\$26,236,961.65	\$2,787,653.03
GST	28/06/2010	\$5,254,455.52	\$5,254,455.52	\$0.00
Total		\$167,372,608.70	\$154,060,638.70	\$13,311,970.00

The fourth and final distribution totalling \$15.9 million commenced on 12 December 2013. As at 28 June 2014, \$13.2 million had been paid to Forestry Grower Investors with \$2.7 million on hold where Forestry Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Forestry Grower Investors. Forestry Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any proceeds from the sale of Forestry Scheme assets or harvests to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
Four	12/12/2013	\$15,917,922.87	\$13,206,118.17	\$2,711,804.70

As a result of this final forestry distribution all funds relating to the preservation and sale of the Forestry assets have now been accounted for by the Liquidators.



3.2 Harvest proceeds distribution

Proceeds arising from trees harvested prior to our appointment in April 2009 totalling \$3.5 million were available for distribution to relevant Forestry Grower Investors in the 1997 and 1998 Forestry Schemes. This distribution commenced on 25 May 2010.

At 28 June 2014, \$3.3 million had been paid to Forestry Grower Investors with \$0.2 million on hold where Forestry Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Forestry Grower Investors. Forestry Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any proceeds from the sale of Forestry Scheme assets to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

3.3 Outstanding matters

3.3.1 Distribution of proceeds on hold

As at 28 June 2014, approximately \$16.3 million of forestry sale and harvest proceeds were on hold and had not been paid where there are competing claims against the funds (either invoice arrears and/or loans of the relevant Grower Investors).

As outlined in Section 2.1, the application to the High Court for special leave to appeal was refused on 11 April 2014. Following this decision, the Liquidators anticipate that the money on hold, and interest accrued on these proceeds, will be released at an increasing rate as both the Company and TFL pursue outstanding invoice arrears and/or loans from Grower Investors.

3.3.2 Forestry Sale GST Distributions

Grower Investors who are registered for GST may be liable for GST on their receipt of proceeds from the sale of trees. The Company previously made a payment in June 2010 for GST attributable to forestry sale proceeds released in the first and second distributions.

The Liquidators are now able to distribute the GST attributable to forestry sale proceeds released in the third and fourth distributions. Distributions have been made this quarter following a receipt of GST claimed in the June 2014 quarter BAS.

Further GST distributions will be made by the Liquidators as forestry sale proceeds that are on hold continue to be released to Grower Investors.

4 Update on Horticultural Managed Investment Schemes

4.1 Kangara Citrus and Bella Vista Table Grape compromises

4.1.1 Background

As previously advised, the Kangara Citrus assets were realised in December 2010 and January 2011 and the Bella Vista Table Grape assets were realised in October 2009. Proceeds from the sale of these assets had been held on trust at the direction of the Supreme Court pending a determination in relation to their apportionment between stakeholders.

Originating motions in regards to the apportionment of these proceeds were filed with the Supreme Court on 25 March 2013. Ensuing negotiations resulted in each of the parties to the proceedings (including the Company) entering into compromise deeds in January 2014 ('the Deeds'). Entry into the Deeds was approved by the Supreme Court on 19 May 2014 after a hearing to consider whether they were in the best interests of the Grower Investors.



4.1.2 Horticulture compromise distributions

In accordance with the deed terms, compromise distributions to Grower Investors totalling \$1.4 million commenced in July 2014. The following table summarises the approved distributions:

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
2004 and 2005 Table Grape Projects (Bella Vista)	31/07/2014	\$384,999.71	\$223,091.38	\$161,908.33
2004 and 2005 Citrus Projects (Kangara)	31/07/2014	\$1,043,320.14	\$604,907.07	\$438,413.07
Total		\$1,428,319.85	\$827,998.45	\$600,321.40

4.2 Earlier horticulture compromises

As previously reported, the earlier horticulture compromise distributions totalling \$17.7 million commenced in March 2013 following the receipt of court orders approving the agreed compromises. The following table summarises the approved distributions:

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
Almond Land (Almonds)	13/03/2013	\$4,246,454.63	\$2,852,089.95	\$1,394,364.68
Liparoo and Yungera (Almonds)	13/03/2013	\$9,795,974.64	\$8,213,603.90	\$1,582,370.74
B.B. Olives (Olives)	13/03/2013	\$1,185,045.03	\$525,423.80	\$659,621.23
Fenceport (Olives)	13/03/2013	\$1,815,014.80	\$1,447,605.35	\$367,409.45
Solora (Citrus)	06/03/2013	\$649,993.00	\$463,774.47	\$186,218.53
Total		\$17,692,482.10	\$13,502,497.47	\$4,189,984.63

As at 28 June 2014, \$13.5 million had been distributed and \$4.2 million remains on hold where either Grower Investors have failed to return the documentation necessary to release the funds, or the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Grower Investors. Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any compromise proceeds to pay down loans.

4.3 Almond Schemes

Since appointment, the Company has received net harvest proceeds from the sale of almonds which are payable to Grower Investors. The 2008 and 2009 crops were sold progressively over the 12 months after their respective harvests. As per prior reports, the receipt of proceeds from the sale of the 2008 and 2009 crop have been finalised and included in distributions to Grower Investors.

The first round of distributions commenced on 19 March 2010 totalling \$27.4 million and the second commenced on 29 November 2010 totalling \$9.6 million. As at 28 June 2014, \$32.7 million had been distributed and \$4.3 million remains on hold where Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Grower Investors. Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any harvest proceeds to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
One	19/03/2010	\$27,421,577.01	\$24,385,469.46	\$3,036,107.55
Two	29/11/2010	\$9,571,171.19	\$8,326,912.21	\$1,244,258.98
Total		\$36,992,748.20	\$32,712,381.67	\$4,280,366.53



4.4 Olive Schemes

Since our appointment, the Company has received harvest proceeds from the sale of the 2008 and 2009 crop. The 2008 harvest was completed prior to our appointment, however we continued to receive proceeds after our appointment as the crop was sold over a period of 12-18 months. In relation to the 2009 harvest, in order to protect both the crop and the olive groves, the Company entered into a sale of crop agreement with Boundary Bend Limited ('BBL'). Under this agreement, BBL agreed to finance the cost of harvesting, processing and selling the 2009 olive crop and to remit the net proceeds to the Company.

The first distribution comprising of 2008 crop proceeds commenced on 26 October 2010. The second distribution commenced on 16 March 2012 and included the remaining proceeds from the 2008 crop and the net sale proceeds received from BBL for the 2009 crop. As at 28 June 2014, \$9.8 million had been distributed and \$1.2 million remains on hold where Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Grower Investors. Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any harvest proceeds to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
One	26/10/2010	\$8,656,846.77	\$7,691,928.42	\$964,918.35
Two	16/03/2012	\$2,421,594.39	\$2,157,310.31	\$264,284.08
Total		\$11,078,441.16	\$9,849,238.73	\$1,229,202.43

4.5 Citrus Schemes

The first and final distribution of citrus harvest proceeds commenced on 26 October 2010 totalling \$0.7 million. As at 28 June 2014, approximately \$0.5 million had been distributed and \$0.2 million remains on hold where Grower Investors have invoice arrears owing to the Company or where the Company is on notice from TFL that it has a claim to the proceeds ahead of the Grower Investors. Grower Investors have been provided with the option to execute a DTP to facilitate the distribution of any harvest proceeds to pay down invoice arrears and/or loans.

Distribution	Date	Total to be distributed	Total distributed	Distributions on hold
One	26/10/2010	\$658,935.00	\$505,439.23	\$153,495.87

5 Update on Wider Timbercorp Group Entity Liquidations

5.1 Deregistration of Timbercorp Group Entities

At appointment, the Timbercorp Group consisted of Timbercorp Limited (In Liquidation) and 40 subsidiaries. Following investigations into the subsidiaries and the Timbercorp Group's corporate structure, the Liquidators have now deregistered 14 companies since appointment. These companies did not have any funds to pay a dividend to unsecured creditors.

5.2 External Unsecured Creditors

In addition to the 14 companies that have already been deregistered, a further eight Timbercorp Group entities have been identified as having no further assets to realise and no outstanding legal issues (apart from calling for and adjudicating proofs of debt). These entities have unsecured creditors comprising of both external creditors and intercompany creditors.



First and final dividends to unsecured creditors are expected to be declared in the abovementioned companies prior to their deregistration, however given the funds on hand and the high level of estimated unsecured creditor claims, the dividend per dollar is not expected to be material.

We have continued to progress adjudication of external unsecured creditor claims that have previously been provided to us as Administrators or Liquidators. In respect of the remaining proofs of debt received, we continue to liaise with the external creditors seeking provision of relevant documentation proving their claims.

A Liquidator is not permitted to distribute assets of a company to unsecured creditors until the Australian Taxation Office has provided clearance to do so to the Liquidator. The existence of a Timbercorp Group Tax Funding and Sharing Agreement has meant that clearance on the identified companies cannot be requested until the pre appointment Timbercorp Group tax position as a whole has been determined. The dividend process for the abovementioned companies and further Timbercorp entity deregistrations are now dependent on the resolution of this pre-appointment tax issue.

5.3 Statutory obligations

5.3.1 ASIC Form 524 Report

The latest ASIC Form 524 report for the Company was prepared and lodged with ASIC on 25 July 2014. This report related to all receipts and payments made during the period 29 December 2013 to 28 June 2014.

5.4 Creditor claims and dividends

Category	Estimated number of claims remaining	Estimated value (\$) of claims remaining	Dividends paid to date (\$)
Priority	0	0	0
Secured	0	0	0
Unsecured	18,086	448,200,942	0
Deferred	0	0	0

Note: The Company has not paid any dividends to creditors, however an amount of \$227 million has been distributed to Grower Investors by the Company in its capacity as RE.

6 Receipts and payments

Account	Total (\$)
Opening bank balance at 29 June 2013	51,765,049.75
eceipts	
Asset Realisation	34,501,505.38
Loan Book Receivable	5,014,754.61
Grower Distribution Reversals	2,357,962.74
Bank Interest	1,453,532.03
Apportionment Proceeds	1,428,321.00
Grower Invoice Receipt	554,348.79
Harvest Proceeds	333,579.39
Insurance Proceeds	100,626.91
GST Control: GST Received	62,773.72
Grower Distribution Reversals - Interest	2,720.70
Other Receipts	1,565.53
otal Receipts	45,811,690.80



Account		Total (\$)			
Payments	Payments				
Grower Distributions		(46,230,338.30)			
Loan Book Receivable		(5,007,326.18)			
Appointee Fees		(486,996.95)			
Grower Distributions - Interest		(439,620.89)			
Legal Fees		(174,348.13)			
Legal Settlements		(115,000.00)			
Other Payments		(27,076.16)			
Consulting Fees		(20,814.00)			
Appointee Costs		(9,879.91)			
Bank Charges		(7,589.38)			
Cost of Realisation		(3,497.28)			
Total Payments		(52,522,487.18)			
	Closing bank balance at 28 June 2014	45,054,253.37			

Note: The above receipts and payments represent the movements of a number of bank accounts held in the Company's own right and others which contain monies held on trust for Grower Investors.

7 Further information

Due to the nature of the liquidation, the Liquidators are unable to provide an estimated time to completion. Creditors requiring further information regarding the liquidation are encouraged to refer to the Timbercorp section of the KordaMentha website in the first instance. Creditors may also contact Timbercorp Grower Management on 1800 628 188.

Mark Korda Liquidator



Appendix 1 Timbercorp Managed Investment Schemes

Timbercorp Forestry Schemes ('Forestry Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
1997 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	112 309 234	1997 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project
		1997 Timbercorp Eucalypts Double Rotation Project
1998 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	112 309 216	1998 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project
		1998 Timbercorp Eucalypts Double Rotation Project
1999 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	085 827 872	1999 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project
1999 Timbercorp Eucalypts Double Rotation Project (Private Offer)	n/a	1999 Timbercorp Eucalypts Double Rotation PO Project
2000 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	091 172 093	2000 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project
2001 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	094 382 000	2001 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project
2002 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	098 233 571	2002 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project (Early)
		2002 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project (Post June)
2003 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	103 183 446	2003 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project (Early)
		2003 Timbercorp Eucalypts Pre Payment Project
2004 Timbercorp Eucalypts Project	108 099 645	2004 Timbercorp Eucalypts Pre Payment Project
2004 Timbercorp Timberlot	108 336 830	2004 Timbercorp SP Timberlot Project (Post June)
(Single Payment) Project		2004 Timbercorp SP Timberlot Pre Payment Project
2005 Timbercorp Timberlot	111 683 491	2005 Timbercorp SP Timberlot Project (Post June)
(Single Payment) Project		2005 Timbercorp SP Timberlot Project (Pre June)
		2006 Timbercorp (2005 Post June) SP Timberlot Project
2007/2008 Timbercorp Timberlot	122 510 981	2007 Timbercorp (2007/2008) SP Timberlot Project (Post June)
(Single Payment) Project		2007 Timbercorp (2007/2008) SP Timberlot Project (Pre June)
		2008 Timbercorp FinYr (2007/2008) SP Timberlot Project (Post June)

Timbercorp Almond Schemes ('Almond Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2001 Timbercorp Almond Project	095 649 746	2001 Timbercorp Almond Project
2002 Timbercorp Almond Project (Private Offer)	n/a	2002 Timbercorp Almond Project (Private Offer)
2002 Timbercorp Almond Project	099 611 935	2002 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
		2002 Timbercorp Almond Project (Standard)
2003 Timbercorp Almond Project	103 197 299	2003 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
		2003 Timbercorp Almond Project (Post June)
2004 Timbercorp Almond Project	108 336 670	2004 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
2005 Timbercorp Almond Project	112 935 092	2005 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
2006 Timbercorp Almond Project	118 387 974	2006 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
2007 Timbercorp Almond Project	122 511 040	2007 Timbercorp Almond Project (Early)
		2007 Timbercorp Almond Project (Post June)



Timbercorp Olive Schemes ('Olive Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2000 Timbercorp Olive Project (Private Offer)	n/a	2000 Timbercorp Olive Project (Private Offer)
2001 Timbercorp Olive Project	094 382 082	2001 Timbercorp Olive Project
2002 Timbercorp Olive Project	098 233 455	2002 Timbercorp Olive Project
		2002 Timbercorp Olive Project (Post June)
2003 Timbercorp Olive Project	104 648 473	2003 Timbercorp Olive Project (Early)
		2003 Timbercorp Olive Project (Post June)
2004 Timbercorp Olive Project	108 744 378	2004 Timbercorp Olive Project (Early)
2006 Timbercorp Olive Project	119 182 179	2006 Timbercorp Olive Project (Early)
2007 Timbercorp Olive Project	123 155 715	2007 Timbercorp Olive Project (Early)
		2007 Timbercorp Olive Project (Post June)
2008 Timbercorp Olive Project	129 307 722	2008 Timbercorp Olive Project (Early)

Timbercorp Citrus Schemes ('Citrus Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2004 Timbercorp Citrus Project	108 887 538	2004 Timbercorp Citrus Project (Early)
2005 Timbercorp Citrus Project	114 091 299	2005 Timbercorp Citrus Project (Early)

Timbercorp Table Grape Schemes ('Table Grape Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2004 Timbercorp Table Grape Project	108 648 086	2004 Timbercorp Table Grape Project
2005 Timbercorp Table Grape Project	113 512 226	2005 Timbercorp Table Grape Project (Early)

Timbercorp Mango Schemes ('Mango Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2005 Timbercorp Mango Project	113 969 216	2005 Timbercorp Mango Project (Early)
2006 Timbercorp Mango Project	119 526 377	2006 Timbercorp Mango Project (Early)
		2006 Timbercorp Mango Project (Post June)

Timbercorp Avocado and Fruit Schemes ('Avocado and Fruit Schemes')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2007 Timbercorp Avocado and Fruit	124 932 510	2007 Timbercorp Avocado and Fruit Project (Early)
Project		2007 Timbercorp Avocado and Fruit Project (Post June)

Timbercorp Avocado Schemes ('Avocado Scheme')

Scheme name	ARSN	Project name
2006 Timbercorp Avocado Project	119 199 941	2006 Timbercorp Avocado Project (Early)